IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HOUSTON HARTLEY

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO.: 2009-CA-01772

OLD VENICE PIZZA COMPANY, INC.

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Oral argument is not requested

OF COUNSEL:

J. ASHLEY OGDEN, ESQ. (MSB JAMES W. SMITH, JR., ESQ. (MSB OGDEN & ASSOCIATES, PLLC 500 East Capitol Street, Suite 3 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: (601) 969-0999 Facsimile: (601) 969-0089

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HOUSTON HARTLEY

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO.: 2009-CA-01772

OLD VENICE PIZZA COMPANY, INC.

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in denying Plaintiff's Motion for a New Trial after the trial court stated it committed error regarding the jury instructions.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in allowing the jury to consider an apportionment of fault to the plaintiff.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in giving the jury two "form of verdict" jury instructions.
- 4. Whether the trial court erred in denying plaintiff's unopposed oral motion for a mistrial.
- 5. Whether the trial court erred by its denial of Plaintiff's Motion in Limine which allowed the jury to hear testimony that the plaintiff had consumed alcoholic beverages prior to his assault, and allowed the jury to hear questioning from counsel for the defendant that implied the plaintiff was intoxicated at the time of the incident

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an action for damages by Houston Hartley (hereinafter "Hartley") against defendant Old Venice Pizza Company, Inc. (hereinafter "Old Venice") for negligent security, failure to warn of a dangerous condition, and failure to maintain the premises in a reasonably safe condition, among other things, and for not preventing the assault of Hartley which occurred while he was an invitee on the premises of Old Venice on or about January 6, 2007.

The trial was held before a jury of twelve (12) commencing on June 8, 2009 and ending on June 11, 2009. The case was submitted to the jury on instructions delivered by the lower court. The jury found in favor of plaintiff Houston Hartley and awarded him \$128,000.00 in damages but apportioned 30% fault to the plaintiff and 70% fault to the defendant Old Venice, thereby reducing his damages award to \$89,600.00. In post trial motions, the trial court held it erred in allowing the jury to consider apportioning fault to the plaintiff and in not submitting a jury instruction defining any negligence of the plaintiff. The trial court reinstated the full jury verdict. The plaintiff requested a new trial but was denied. Appellant perfects this appeal from the lower court's judgments.

FACTS

Houston Hartley was a customer at the Old Venice Pizza Company on January 6, 2007. (Tr. 491:13-19). On this night the Defendant had a security guard, Clayton Fox, working the parking lot. Fox wore a uniform, carried a gun, handcuffs, and badge. The shirt he was wearing was black and said "security" on it. (Tr. 386:14-27). Fox had no police training and was not licensed or trained to carry a gun. (Tr. 385:20 to 386:2). He was also the general maintenance man at the property. (Tr. 390:12 to 391:2). His defined duties as security was to "separate folks when they get into arguments." (Tr. 391:20-29). His first priority was the physical security of the customers. (Tr. 392:18-21). That was the policy of Old Venice on January 6, 2007. (Tr. 392:22-24). He was told "If you see trouble, break it up." (Tr. 398:1-2). He was told by management, "[i]f trouble breaks out, get it separated and get them out of here so it doesn't disturb the normal course of business." (Tr. 399:14-25). He said he was authorized to put his hands on someone to stop a problem or if someone was being stomped about the head while on the ground. (Tr. 405:26 to 406:5). He acknowledged that he was aware of problems in the parking lot. He described it as "occasionally a scuffle in the parking lot, car break-ins...." (Tr. 408:1-4). Old Venice's policy for persons in the parking lot was they had to be inside or off the property. (Tr. 285:27 to 286:7).

On January 6, 2007, Plaintiff Hartley had a few appetizers and drinks with his wife and some friends. (Tr. 491:17-19; 491:28-29). About 20 minutes before Houston left the restaurant management escorted a drunk man and his group of friends out of the bar. (Tr. 175:1-4; 492:6-10). The security guard told the group their friend was visibly drunk. (Tr. 395:25-28). When patrons went to leave, the drunk man was sitting on the curb right at the front door, puking with his shirt off. His five buddies were standing around him. You literally had to step over him to get

out the front door. (Tr. 175:16-24; 231:13-19). The drunk and his group of friends were an impediment or hazard to persons trying to get out the door, (Tr. 175:25-29). They were blocking the front door exit and hanging out in the parking lot. (Tr. 200:10-23). The security guard was standing there and watching. (Tr. 177:8-10; 200:24-29). One of the women who was leaving, Parish Malouf, took a picture of the drunk man with her cell phone and that made his buddies mad. (Tr. 176:22-26). They started arguing with her and trying to take her cell phone. (Tr. 176:27 to 177:9). The men began swearing and demanding the phone. The security guard was about 5 feet away and did nothing while the matter escalated. (Tr. 442:4-18). The men surrounded the woman and her husband, who had gone to get the car, returned her aid. (Tr. 201:1-15). The men were trying to wrestle the phone away from Ms. Malouf. (Tr. 465:18). The drunk men had his wife surrounded. When Mr. Malouf came to her aid the group began accosting him. (Tr. 201:2-15). The security guard was there doing nothing, but was close enough that he could do something if he wanted to. (Tr. 201:16-23). While Mr. Malouf is trying to get his wife away from this group blocking the front door, Plaintiff is trying to leave through the front door. (Tr. 201:27 to 202:4). The group was drunk and belligerent. (Tr. 179:1-4). Then a black truck came onto the property, several men unloaded out of the truck and came to join the argument. (Tr. 179:10-18). The size of the group grows to 12 to 15 men. (Tr. 182:2-10). The security guard stood and watched. (Tr. 181:10-13). Witness Louis Wilkinson said to the security guard, "there's fixing to be a fight." And the guard replied, "I'm not getting involved." (Tr. 179:12-29).

About this time Hartley comes out the front door and had to "work my way through that crowd trying to get to my truck." (Tr. 492:24-29; 538: 24-27). The only way Hartley could get to his truck was through the crowd at the front door. (Tr. 520:2-7; 538:11-27). He did not suspect

there was going to be a problem. (Tr. 539:6-10). As Hartley was working his way through the rowdy crowd, the security guard was there observing the incident. (Tr. 495:14-25). The guard was not trying to do anything to break up the problem. (Tr. 495:20 to 496:5). As Hartley is going by, he tries to calm everything down and tells his friends "let's go, we don't want any problems." (Tr. 493:2-11;180:12-15; 520:24-25). At this point one of the men in the group "sucker punches" him (Tr.181:19-29: 466:6). The group begins beating and kicking him and stomping on his head. (Tr. 182:12-15; 493:2-21). The security guard made no attempt to break up the attack, separate the crowd, or stop the attack. (Tr. 182:16-25). He stood and watched. (Tr. 467:1).

The security guard took no action to disburse the crowd or break up the argument before it got out of hand. He did not prevent problem from escalating. (Tr. 495:26-496:10). He did not stop the men from harassing the woman. (Tr. 177:16-26). The security guard provided no aid to Hartley. (Tr. 206:13). He took no efforts to separate the men from Ms. Malouf. (Tr. 206:16). He made no effort to separate the group when they turned on Mr. Malouf. (Tr. 206:19). He just stood and watched and made not attempt to stop anything. (Tr. 206:27 to 207:2). The security guard had several opportunities to stop the attack from starting and several chances to break it up, but chose not to get involved even though the policy of the Defendant was to clear the parking lot of all trouble and to prevent fights from occurring and to secure the safety of the customers.

As a result of the assault, Hartley suffered sever damage to his teeth having to get twelve teeth repaired due to cracks, breaks or chips. (Tr. 496:28-498:1). He incurred \$8,241.50 in medical bills. (Tr. 499:19-25). He has headaches and depression. (Tr. 501:6-15). He expects to see doctors for the remainder of his life due to his injuries. (Tr. 502:7-15).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It was error for the trial court to find that it allowed faulty jury instructions on apportionment of fault to be submitted to the jury but after admitting such error did not order a new trial. During trial no evidence was submitted to show any negligence on the part of the plaintiff but the trial court still allowed the jury to consider a percentage of fault against the plaintiff. The trial court in post trial motions agreed it had erred in the jury instruction but did not order a new trial. Instead it removed the percentage of fault against the plaintiff and reinstated the amount of the verdict. This is procedurally incorrect. The trial court also erred in not submitting a jury instruction describing what negligence, if any, the plaintiff committed. The trial court also committed error by giving the jury contradictory form of the verdict instructions. The trial court committed error in not declaring a mistrial when plaintiff requested a mistrial and the defendant joined the request. The trial court committed error by allowing the defendant to provide testimony placing fault on the third party criminal when the criminal assailant was not a party and the law does not allow this type of prejudicial argument. The only proper and fair remedy as provided under law in regards to the trial courts errors is to award a new trial.

Standard of Review

The standard of review for evidentiary rulings by the trial court is abuse of discretion. "A district court abuses its discretion if it: (1) relies on clearly erroneous factual findings; (2) relies on erroneous conclusions of law; or (3) misapplies the law to the facts." *In re Volkswagen of Am., Inc.* 545 F.3d 304, 310 (5th Cir. 2008) (quoting *McClure v. Ashcroft*, 335 F.3d 404, 408 (5th Cir. 2003) (citation omitted). Abuse of discretion is defined as creating a prejudice to the party's case. *Edwards v. State*, 737 So.2d 275 (Miss. 1999).

ARGUMENT

I. Trial Court Erred in Not Ordering New Trial After the Trial Court Admitted It Committed Error in Allowing Faulty Jury Instructions.

The court may grant a new trial only when justice so requires in circumstances when the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, **the jury is confused by faulty jury instructions**, or the verdict is based on bias, passion, and prejudice. *Hamilton v. Hammons*, 792 So.2d 956 (Miss. 2001); Miss. R. Civ. P. 59. Errors occurring at the trial cannot be reviewed without a motion for new trial. *Hayes v. Slidell Liquor Co.*, 55 So. 356, 357 (Miss.1911). Specifically, plaintiff requests this Court order a new trial so that a new jury may consider the full weight of plaintiff's evidence.

The trial court admitted on the record that it had allowed a faulty jury instruction. The trial court also admitted that it failed to provide a proper jury instruction on negligence. (Tr. 697:13-16; 701:21-27). Nevertheless, instead of granting a new trial the trial court simply reinstated the original verdict without the 30% deducted due to supposed fault by the plaintiff. The remedy provided by the trial court was not consistent with the law. The correct remedy is a new trial. The trial court's order did not remedy the error in the jury instructions. A new trial should be granted when justice requires. Circumstances which justice so requires are "when the

verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the jury has been confused by faulty jury instructions, or the verdict is based on bias, passion, and prejudice." *Hamilton*, 792 So. 2d 956, 965 (emphasis added). "If the instructions 'do not fairly or adequately instruct the jury, [the appellate court] can and will reverse." *Moore v. State*, 755 So. 2d 1276, 1280 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (quoting *Boone v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 680 So. 2d 844, 845 (Miss. 1996) (emphasis added)).

The trial court stated in post trial motions hearing Defendant's jury instruction was given to the jury allowing the jury to "reduce the award by any negligence on the part of the Plaintiff, but [Defendant] didn't give any or set out any facts that [the jury] could find negligence." (Tr. 694:26 to 695:3). The trial court stated, "you cannot rely on an instruction allowing the jury to find or to award if there is negligence in the case without setting out the particular facts of that case." (Tr. 696:9-15). The trial court stated, "it was error on my part not to give one, but it was also error on [Defendant's] part not to submit one...." (Tr. 697:12-16).

The trial court concluded,

I have reviewed my notes and my recollection of the testimony in this case on this particular point as to whether or not there was sufficient evidence to give an instruction on comparative negligence. It's a very close issue, but in my opinion in hindsight I was wrong in allowing testimony on this particular point. For further reasons on the jury instructions it was error not to define what acts could be considered negligence on the part of the Plaintiff.

(Tr. 701:16-26). After the trial court ruled that there was error in the instructions (Tr. 701:21-27), the plaintiff requested a new trial which the court denied. (Tr. 702:19 to 703:1). The trial court stated the erroneous admission of testimony concerning the acts of the plaintiff would not affect the jury's determination on total amount of damages. (Tr. 703:9-14). The plaintiff then again asked the court for a new trial and the court stood on its ruling. (Tr. 703:19-23).

The trial court's remedy to remove the comparative negligence instruction after the fact and to reinstate the verdict is procedurally incorrect. The damage to the plaintiff cannot be cured by simply adding the amount of damages that were initially reduced because of erroneous defective jury instructions. This remedy does not allow for the consideration of any pain and suffering award. Since the complete verdict itself only equals the total amount of medical bills that were submitted, the verdict as corrected does not allow for any addition of pain and suffering, which was an element of plaintiff's damages submitted to the jury. The jury was obviously bias and prejudiced in this verdict. The only proper and fair remedy as provided under law is to award plaintiff a new trial as requested.

II. The Trial Court Erred in Allowing the Jury to Consider an Apportionment of Fault to the Plaintiff.

A. No Facts Show Any Negligence by Plaintiff

The trial court erred in allowing the jury to apportion fault to the plaintiff. Based on the trial court's defective instruction, the jury was required to find a percentage of fault to the plaintiff. (R. 815- Court instruction number 28, D-20). The verdict placing 70% fault on defendant and 30% fault on plaintiff was against the greater weight of the evidence presented, since there was no testimony that the plaintiff caused or contributed to his injuries.

Apportionment of fault is only appropriate where a defendant has plead and proven negligence on the part of a party or non-party. Eckman v. Moore, 876 So. 2d 975, 988 (Miss. 2004). Apportionment of fault is an affirmative defense and defendants have the burden to prove any apportionment of fault. The burden of proof rests on the shoulders of the one asserting an affirmative defense. Id at 988. Defendant is required to prove the negligence of the individual they assert is at fault and prove that the negligence contributed to the cause of plaintiff's injury for there to be fault allocated to someone other than the named

Defendants. Breaux v. Grand Casinos of Miss., 854 So. 2d 1093, 1097 (Miss. App. 2003) (citing King v. Dudley, 286 So. 2d 814, 817 (Miss. 1973)). There was no testimony by any witnesses that Hartley acted negligently. In post trial motion hearings, the trial court agreed with the plaintiff's argument that:

- 1. the instruction on comparative negligence against laintiff was wrong. (Tr. 701:16-23)
- 2. the court erred for not instructing the jury on what negligence, if any, the plaintiff committed.(Tr. 701:24-27).

The trial court concluded, "I have reviewed my notes and my recollection of the testimony in this case on this particular point as to whether or not there was sufficient evidence to give an instruction on comparative negligence. It's a very close issue, but in my opinion in hindsight I was wrong in allowing testimony on this particular point. For further reasons on the jury instructions it was error not to define what acts could be considered negligence on the part of the Plaintiff." (Tr. 701:16-27).

The trial court failed to apply the law and the facts in the case and committed error by allowing defendant's proposed jury instruction labeled "D-20" (Court instruction 28) (R. 815) to be given to the jury. This instruction improperly allowed the jury to apportion fault to the plaintiff when there was no evidence presented at trial that the plaintiff's actions were a direct or proximate cause of his assault and resultant injuries.

In order for the plaintiff to be negligent, there had to be evidence that the plaintiff was aware of the danger and appreciated the danger. See, *Thomas v. Columbia Group, LLC*, 969 So. 2d 849 (Miss. 2007) where victim did not appreciate the danger and did not willfully place himself in peril. The *Thomas* case is practically on all fours with the case at bar. Thomas was a victim who "did nothing to instigate the shooting" and did not willfully place himself in peril. *Id.* at 854. However, the duty to warn or protect disappears entirely when it is shown that the

injured person did, in fact, observe and fully appreciate the peril. *Titus v. Williams*, 844 So. 2d 459 (Miss. 2003). In *Titus*, the victim approached the shooter and first attacked him. *Id.* at 464. The shooter then retrieved his gun and killed the victim. *Id.* There was no evidence that Hartley instigated the fight or appreciated the problem beforehand.

The plaintiff testified **he did not instigate** the attack:

- Q: What did you do to instigate any of this attack?
- A: Nothing. Nothing. I had no idea what was going on. I was just walking by and saw my friends there.

(Tr. 494:29 to 495:3)

The plaintiff testified he was not aware and did not appreciate the danger presented:

- Q: Tell us if you were able to appreciate what was going on at any point that would alert you that there was going to be a problem.
- A: I suspected nothing was about to happen
- Q: You did not know there was a problem until you got into the middle of it, right?
- A: Right.

(Tr. 538:28 to 539:10)

The group of men who were starting the fight were between the plaintiff and his truck and he had to go through them to get to his car. "They were in route to my truck. They were between where I came out of the door and on my way to the truck. So it was no—that was the only way I could go." (Tr. 520:1-40). See also plaintiff's testimony:

- Q: Houston, what did you have to get through to get your car?
 A: A crowd of guys, a crowd of rowdy men.
 (Tr. 537:16-18)
 - Q: Did you come over to this incident or did you go through this incident?
 - A: I went through the incident because I was on my way to my vehicle when I came across it.
 - Q: Well, if the Defendant kept saying that you walked into the situation, what's your response to that?
 - A: No, I did not. I was going to my truck, so I had to walk through them to get to my vehicle. And I happened to walk across them while I was going to my vehicle.

(Tr. 538:11-27)

Testimony from other witnesses verified plaintiff did not start or contribute to the attack.

Testimony of Louis Wilkinson:

- Q: Did he [plaintiff] instigate or get into this incident at all?
- A: No.
- Q: Did he make any effort to interject himself in between all these people who are arguing back and forth about the phone?
- A: No.

(Tr. 180:12-22)

Testimony of Justin Malouf:

- Q: At any point in time, did the two—did you see Houston throw any punches?
- A: No.
- Q: At any point in time, did you see Houston interject himself and try to start any trouble?
- A: No.
- Q: All right. Did you or do you have any testimony that would indicate that Houston agitated or started this thing?
- A: None whatsoever.

(Tr. 202:23 to 203:3)

Testimony of Amy Hartley:

- Q: [W]hat if anything did you see your husband do that started the attack?
- A: He didn't do anything...he did nothing wrong.

(Tr. 470:23 to 471:9)

Testimony of Plaintiff premises security expert Ken Goodrum:

- Q: What fault did you find, or do you have an opinion about anything that Houston did wrong?
- A: None.
- Q: Okay, wait, you have no opinion or—
- A: No. Mr. Hartley didn't do anything wrong.

(Tr. 328:13-17)

Based on the evidence, plaintiff did not appreciate the peril and he did not start, instigate or contribute to the fight. Plaintiff was a mere victim as in *Thomas*. There was no evidence to

support a jury instruction for apportioning fault or for contributory negligence against the plaintiff.

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