#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**HOUSTON HARTLEY** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-01772

OLD VENICE PIZZA COMPANY, INC.

**APPELLEE** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, OLD VENICE PIZZA COMPANY, INC.

MATTHEW A. TAYLOR (MSB NO. JAMIE L. HEARD (MSB NO. SCOTT, SULLIVAN, STREETMAN & FOX, P.C. 725 AVIGNON DRIVE
RIDGELAND, MS 39157
POST OFFICE BOX 13847
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39236-3847
TELEPHONE: 601-607-4800

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

FACSIMILE: 601-607-4801

#

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

In his appellate brief, Hartley asks for one thing - a new trial. In support thereof, he alleges the following points of error:

- The trial court erred in allowing the jury to apportion fault to the plaintiff, since there was no evidence of the plaintiff's negligence presented at trial;
- The trial court erred in allowing the jury to apportion fault to the plaintiff because the comparative negligence instructions presented were inadequate and conflicting;
- The trial court's grant of a JNOV was insufficient to cure the error in the admission of faulty instructions and was procedurally an improper remedy;
- The trial court erred in denying Hartley's motion for mistrial;
- The trial court erred in denying Hartley's motion *in limine* to preclude evidence of the plaintiff's alcohol consumption on the night of the incident; and
- The trial court erred in allowing certain testimony of Warren Woodfork, Old Venice's expert.

A new trial, however, was and still is completely unwarranted in this case. First and foremost, each and every error cited by the Plaintiff with regard to whether or not a comparative negligence instruction was proper at the trial court level is *completely irrelevant*, since (a) Old Venice was ultimately found to be 100% liable for Hartley's injuries and (b) the trial court's grant of a JNOV eliminating any comparative fault of the plaintiff and assessing 100% liability for Hartley's damages to Old Venice was not only *exactly* what Hartley asked for in his post-trial motions, but was also within the court's discretion. Therefore, the issues surrounding whether or not the trial court erred in submitting the issue of comparative negligence to the jury are moot. The only real issues for this Court on appeal are the remaining three points - the arguments regarding the mistrial motion, the motion *in limine* and the expert testimony of Warren Woodfork - all of which are reviewed by this Honorable Court for an abuse of discretion.

Because the trial court's rulings on all three of the motions were neither arbitrary nor clearly erroneous, the rulings must stand and the final order<sup>5</sup> of the trial court must be **affirmed**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> When reference is made herein to the "final order" of the trial court, Old Venice is referring to the Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, for New Trial or in the Alternative, for an Additur, i.e. the JNOV, which is found in the record at 879-880.

#### ARGUMENT

Throughout his brief, Hartley argues that he is entitled to a new trial in light of several errors allegedly committed at the trial court level. Notably absent from his brief, however, is evidence in support a finding that the errors had any prejudicial, negative or adverse affect on the outcome of the trial. As previously recognized by this Honorable Court, "[n]o trial is fee of error." Fielder and Magnolia Beverage Company, 757 So.2d 925, 928 (¶ 9) (citing Davis v. Singing River Elec. Power Ass'n, 501 So.2d 1128, 1131 (Miss. 1987); Parmes v. Illinois Cent. Gulf R.R., 440 So.2d 261, 268 (Miss. 1983)). Although error may have been committed at the trial level, reversal of a trial court and the ordering of a new trial is not automatically appropriate in every circumstance. Rather,

[t]o warrant reversal, two elements must be shown: error, and injury to the party appealing. Error is harmless when it is trivial, formal, or merely academic, and not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the party assigning it, and where it in no way affects the final outcome of the case; it is prejudicial, and ground for reversal, only when it affects the final result of the case and works adversely to a substantial right of the party assigning it.

Jefferson v. State of Mississippi, 818 So.2d 1099, 1112 (¶ 36) (Miss. 2002) (citing Gray v. State, 799 So.2d 53, 61 (Miss. 2001)). As this Court will see, there has been no such prejudice suffered by Hartley in this case, as none of the errors allegedly committed at the trial court level had an effect on the final outcome of litigation. Accordingly, no point of error cited by Hartley on appeal, even if truly erroneous, warrants reversal of the final order of the trial court.

- I. Any error committed by the trial court in allowing the jury to consider Hartley's comparative negligence was completely harmless.
  - A. Any error committed by the trial court was cured by the grant of a JNOV.

In this case, the trial court ultimately found that the jury should not have been allowed to apportion any percentage of fault to Hartley, citing Old Venice's failure to submit a certain jury instruction as the point of error. Particularly, following the hearing on post-trial motions, the trial court held that in order to have properly submitted the issue of Hartley's comparative negligence to the jury, Old Venice was required to submit not only an instruction defining comparative negligence, but also an instruction defining the specific acts or omissions of Hartley which would constitute comparative negligence on his behalf. The trial court found that Old Venice's failure to do so should have been fatal to its affirmative defense of comparative negligence and that the issue should not have been submitted for consideration by the jury at trial. Despite the fact that the issue of Hartley's comparative negligence was erroneously presented to the jury, the trial court subsequently cured the error by eliminating any percentage of fault allocated to Hartley by the jury and by holding Old Venice 100% liable for Hartley's damages.

However, Hartley has argued that the trial court's remedy in simply eliminating any percentage of fault apportioned to Hartley was insufficient to cure the error in the jury's instruction. In articulating exactly how the error was not cured by the Court's grant of a JNOV, Hartley states that "the jury was obviously bias [sic] and prejudiced in this verdict" since "the complete verdict itself. . . does not allow for any addition of pain and suffering, which was an element of the plaintiff's damages submitted to the jury." Stated differently, Hartley has argued that the jury was "bias [sic] and prejudiced" by faulty *comparative negligence* instructions in the

rendering of its verdict for *damages* and reaches this conclusion based solely upon the fact that the award of damages allegedly fails to include an award for pain and suffering.

First, contrary to the assertions of Hartley, it is clear the grant of a JNOV in this case was sufficient to cure any alleged error in the jury instructions, since the allegedly faulty comparative negligence instructions had absolutely zero effect on the amount of damages awarded by the jury. As so aptly stated by the trial court, the jury's damages award was not, in any way, influenced by the faulty instructions, since the allegedly faulty instructions concerned only apportionment of liability, not the calculation of damages. In fact, the jurors were specifically instructed not to take into consideration any allocation of fault between the parties in reaching their damages verdict. 

®. at 815.) In Mississippi, generally speaking, it is presumed that jurors follow the trial judge's instructions, as upon their oaths they are obliged to do." Young v. Guild, 7 So.3d 251, 263 (Miss.2009) (citing Parker v. Jones County Community Hospital, 549 So.2d 443, 446 (Miss.1989)). As such, it is presumed in this case that the jurors calculated their damages award in accordance with the instructions presented and that they did not take into consideration any fault of Hartley in reaching that decision. In order to rebut that presumption, Hartley must come forward with some credible evidence to the contrary.

The only suggestion made by Hartley to the contrary is that the jury was "prejudiced and biased" in reaching its verdict. He bases this conclusion solely upon his own allegations that the jury failed to award him any amount of damages for pain and suffering. His allegations in that regard, however, are not only misplaced, but are also speculative at best, since the damages award in this case was not broken down by the jury into categories, nor did Hartley request that the jury do so at trial.

Here, the jury awarded Hartley approximately \$120,000.00 in damages over and above the amount of his medical expenses as of the date of trial. Simply put, Hartley has no actual knowledge of whether the amount of \$120,000.00 was meant to compensate him for (1) future medical expenses, (2) for past pain and suffering, (3) for future pain and suffering or (4) for all or a combination of all three. In fact, in light of the rather shaky testimony of Hartley's treating/expert physician, it is just as reasonable to conclude that the jury chose to award Hartley \$120,000.00 for his past and future pain and suffering as it is to assume that the jury believed Goel and chose to award \$120,000.00 for future medical expenses.

The point is that Hartley just doesn't know. In making any argument to the contrary, Hartley ignores one of the most basic principals of a jury trial - that it is primarily the province of the jury to determine the amount of damages to be awarded. In doing so, he disregards the possibility that the jury simply chose not believe some of his own or his physician's testimony with regard to damages. Such guesswork on behalf of Hartley falls woefully short of establishing that the jury was bias and prejudiced and further fails to show that the jury deviated from its oath to follow the trial court's instructions. Accordingly, in this case, the jury is presumed to have found that the amount of \$128,000.00 was adequate to compensate Hartley for (1) all past and future "pain, suffering and mental anguish" and (2) all past and future "hospital bills, doctors' bills, x-rays, radiologist's fees, prescriptions and medications" - at least those which the jury found to have been proven by Hartley by a preponderance of the evidence. Any arguments to the contrary are based solely upon conjecture and should not be entertained by this Honorable Court.

Second, not only has Hartley failed to draw a connection between the alleged absence of a pain and suffering award and the faulty comparative negligence instructions, his argument for a

new trial based on the alleged "bias [sic] and prejudice" of the jury sounds more like one for an additur rather than for a new trial. As previously stated, Hartley's argument that the JNOV was insufficient to cure the error of the trial court is based solely upon his allegation that the jury was "bias and prejudiced" in its damages award. This argument, however, is the very same argument set forth by Hartley in his post-trial motion for an additur. 

®. at 862-863.) Notwithstanding that Hartley has failed to present this issue for the consideration of this Honorable Court, it is clear that the trial court's denial of an additur was proper in this case.

In denying Hartley's motion for an additur, the trial court obviously found that the jury was not biased or prejudiced, since an additur is warranted where "the court finds that the jury was influenced by bias, prejudice, or passion, or . . . if the damages were contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence." United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company of Mississippi v. Martin, 998 So.2d 956, 969 (Miss. 2008) (citing Rodgers v. Pascagoula Pub. Sch. Dist., 611 So.2d 942, 944 (Miss. 1992)). The trial court's ruling on a motion for additur will not be disturbed unless the trial court is found to have acted arbitrarily or its ruling is found to be clearly erroneous. Poole v. Avara, 908 So.2d 716, 721 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2005) (citing Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (¶ 4) (Miss.2003)). In deciding whether the trial court's ruling was clearly erroneous or arbitrary, this Honorable Court "must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the party in whose favor the jury decided, granting that party any favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn therefrom." Lewis v. Hiatt. 683 So.2d 937. 941 (Miss, 1996). A jury award should not be disturbed "unless its size, in comparison to the actual amount of damage, shocks the conscience," Entergy Miss., Inc. v. Bolden, 854 So.2d 1051, 1058 (Miss.2003) (citation omitted).

In this case, the jury awarded Hartley over 12 times the amount of his medical expenses as of the date of trial. By looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to Old Venice, it can reasonably be inferred that the jury chose not to believe Hartley's testimony or the testimony of Goel as to the projected amount of Hartley's future medical expenses. It is also just as reasonable to infer that the jury simply refused to believe that Hartley will incur any future medical expenses and that the entire amount of the verdict, over an above the amount of his medical expenses, was meant to compensate Hartley for pain and suffering. Because the amount of the verdict, in comparison with the amount of actual damages, is not unreasonable and because the amount of the verdict is supported by credible evidence, the trial court's denial of an additur was not arbitrary and therefore, should not be disturbed. Moreover, Hartley's request for a new trial based upon the exact same argument must be denied as well.

In summary, regardless of whether or not the damages awarded includes compensation for pain and suffering, the award was not affected in any way by the faulty comparative negligence instructions and the grant of the JNOV cured any error committed in the submission of the issue of the comparative negligence to the jury. Hartley's arguments presented to the contrary are (1) unsupported and (2) misplaced. First, his arguments that the jury failed to include an award for pain and suffering in its final calculation of damages is unfounded, since the award was not categorized by the jury and further, categorization was not requested by Hartley. Second, it is clear that Hartley's real issue here is with the denial of his motion for additur. However, his arguments in support of an additur at the trial level were just as unconvincing there as they are here, since the award was reasonable.

Again, the error committed by the submission of the issue of comparative negligence to the jury was cured by the grant of a JNOV. Because the damages award was completely

unaffected by the faulty instructions, any error committed at the trial court level was harmless. In this case, the end result (i.e. the damages award) would have been the same regardless of whether the trial court properly denied the comparative negligence instructions in the first place. In light of the longstanding rule that this Court will not reverse a case for error where the result would have been the same had the error not been made, Hartley's request for a new trial must, therefore, be denied. *Melton Hardware Co.* v. Heidelberg, 44 So. 857, 858 (Miss.1907). See also *Pickering v. Industria Masina I Traktora*, 740 So.2d 836, 843 (¶ 25) (Miss. 1999) (citing *Dunn v. Jack Walker's Audio Visual Center*, 544 So.2d 829, 831 (Miss.1989) (stating that errors in jury instructions are moot where the plaintiff receives the most favorable result he could have received if the instruction had been given).

### B. The grant of a JNOV, rather than a new trial, was proper.

As previously stated, following the trial of this matter, Hartley filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, For a New Trial, or in the Alternative for an Additur.

Therein, he specifically requested a JNOV, stating that the "the jury should not have been allowed under law to apportion fault to any party other than the Defendant and that the Defendants should have been found 100% liable in this matter." 

at 848-849, ¶ 3.) At the hearing on the post-trial motions, it is clear that this Court gave the Plaintiff exactly what he asked for by (1) finding that as a matter of law, the jury should not have been allowed to allocate any percentage of fault to the Plaintiff and by (2) entering a judgment for the Plaintiff allocating 100% of fault for the Plaintiff's injuries to the Defendant, even though the jury verdict was originally rendered partially in favor of the Defendant. See Definition of judgment notwithstanding the verdict, Black's Law Dictionary at 701 (8th ed. 2005). In his appellate brief,

however, Hartley argues that the trial court's error in allowing the jury to hear faulty contributory negligence instructions warranted a new trial, rather than a JNOV.

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